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We heard the employee's claim for benefits on October 29, 1997 at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides represents the employee.  Attorney Michael Budzinski represents employer Travelways and its carrier (Travelways).  Attorney Richard Wagg represents employer Klondike Concrete and its carrier (Klondike).  Attorney Tasha Porcello represents employer Valley Block and Concrete and its carrier (Valley).  Attorney Theresa Hennemann represents employer Builders Block, Inc. and its carrier (Builders).  We closed the record on October 31, 1997 after the parties filed supplemental affidavits of attorney's fees as agreed at the October 29, 1997 hearing.  


ISSUE

Which employer is liable under the last injurious exposure rule.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEEDINGS

The employee injured his right knee on January 9, 1985 while working for Travelways as a bus driver.  In his March 20, 1985 operative report George Wichman, M.D., reported:  


 This gentleman was treated for a [sic] injury he sustained in the course of his employment.  Because of the pain and locking followed by swelling he felt functionally incapacitated.  The original injury occurred when he slipped on the ice under a bus and his leg forcibly spread.  


  He did not respond to conservative treatment and continued to have locking.  For this reason a diagnostic arthrogram was performed with Dr. Ronald Cain which demonstrates a lesion involving the lateral meniscus. 


In his March 22, 1985 discharge summary, Dr. Wichman noted:  "In surgery a defect in the lateral femoral condyle was found to be present and a torn lateral meniscus.  The torn part was removed.  Post operative course was uneventful."  


The employee returned to work for Travelways and re-injured his right knee on July 18, 1985.  He changed physicians to David McGuire, M.D., whose preoperative diagnosis was:  "Status post open arthrotomy with lateral meniscectomy:  rule out retained posterior horn:  rule out chondromalacia of the femur."  (Dr. McGuire, January 7, 1986 operative report).  Dr. McGuire performed a partial lateral meniscectomy;  his postoperative diagnosis was:  "Same.  Retained posterior horn of the lateral meniscus with chondromalacia grade two over the weight bearing surface of the lateral femoral condyle:  partial anterior cruciate ligament tear with autogenous reattachment to the posterior cruciate ligament." (Id.).  The employee recovered and returned to work. 


On April 27, 1987 we approved a compromise and release agreement (C&R).  The C&R provides in pertinent part: 


  The agreed amount of settlement is $2,728.00 to be paid to the applicant in compromise of all benefits which might be due under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act, including benefits for past, present and future disability, temporary or permanent, resulting from the injuries sustained by the applicant on January 10, 1985, and July 18, 1985 . . . Applicant waives his right to assert any claim for vocational rehabilitation at the carrier's expense or to assert any other claim for compensation benefits, excepting medical benefits, arising from or necessitated by the January 10, 1985 or July 18, 1985, incidents.


In his June 30, 1987 report, Dr. McGuire stated:   


  The patient has been back to work.  He had an allographic reconstruction of his knee eleven months ago.  He's complaining of some anterior sharp pain when he turns from left to right.  He may have some slight ecchymosis anteriorly.  His knee is stable.  I don't see much else is changing.  He probably just irritated this with his increasing activities.  


The employee went to work for Klondike in May of 1990.  (Bernier dep. at 25).  He testified he drove a cement truck.  His work was seasonal, depending on temperature, commonly from April or May through November or December.


The employee saw John D. Frost, M.D., on referral from Dr. McGuire, on May 13, 1991 for symptoms which developed in 1991.  Dr. Frost's May 13, 1991 report provides in pertinent part:  


  I saw David Bernier at your request.  He is a 37-year-old truck driver who I assisted you with on an anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in 1986.  This was apparently successful in that he has not had recurrent episodes of buckling or giving way of his knee.  He was actually doing fairly well until about two months ago.  Two months ago, he began developing problems with what he describes as catching and popping under his kneecap.  It is fairly painful to him.  It started spontaneously and has been getting worse.  As a result, he tends to walk with his knee in a slightly flexed position.  On at least on (sic) occasion, it has caught  and become swollen.  When he walks normally, he gets a definite catch with every step. . . . 


  Lachman's test is 1+ positive, pivot shift is negative, but does produce a significant click in the lateral meniscus.  This click feels like a classic torn lateral meniscus, but I note from his operative report that his lateral meniscus is surgically absent.  Therefore, the lateral click must be coming from an area of catching or erosion in the lateral compartment.


  X-rays of his knee show evidence of posttraumatic arthritis.


  My impression is posttraumatic arthritis with possible loose body or torn cartilage, lateral compartment and status five years post anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with reasonable stability of the cruciate ligament.  I feel that he would benefit from an arthroscopic debridement and assessment of the joint.  There is a significant likelihood that the lateral compartment can be smoothed to eliminate the catching.  There is also a possibility that the catching is coming from soft tissue behind the patella or even the patellar surface itself.  If simple arthroscopic surgery demonstrates that his lateral compartment is deteriorating, then he might conceivably benefit from a varus osteotomy.  We have not obtained weightbearing or stress films today, but these should certainly be taken before considering osteotomy.


On May 2, 1991, Travelways filed a controversion notice.  The controversion denied liability for "all benefits."  Travelways reasoned:  "Sec. 23.30.095 - there is no evidence to link current condition to past injury of 1985."  Travelways did not have the employee evaluated by a physician of their choice at that time. 


On June 5, 1991, Dr. McGuire performed  a debridement of the medial tibial plateau and debridement of the osteophytes on the femur laterally.  Dr. McGuire's June 5, 1991 operative note provides in pertinent part:  


  The medial compartment was first explored.  The medial meniscus was intact, although it showed signs of degenerative change. . . . The lateral compartment was next explored.  It was clearly abnormal.  The meniscus was surgically absent in its entirety.  There was chondromalacia, grade III, bare bone on the tibial plateau in the posterolateral corner, and over a more extensive area on the femur itself.  


At the start of the 1994 cement season (May 24) the employee began working for Valley.  During his deposition, the following exchange occurred:  


Q.
Okay.  What did you do for Klondike Concrete?


A.
The same -- exactly the same job that I do with Valley Block.


Q.
Okay, so you drove their cement trucks?


A.
Yes.  And that is where I also operated some other equipment, too.  


Q.
Okay. . . . I noticed earlier on your skills portion of Exhibit 1, page 1, you've got -- quite a few pieces of equipment listed. . . . Where [sic] any of those . . . operated at Valley Block?


A.
No, sir.


Q.
Okay.  Were any of these pieces of equipment operated at Klondike Concrete?


A.
Yes, sir.


Q.
Were any of these pieces of equipment operated at Klondike Concrete?


A.
988 CAT front end loader, Terex 745 front end loader, end dump and pup, and the regular mixer trucks.  


Q.
Okay.  In terms of mixer truck work then, would you say that it was, basically identical to the Valley Concrete work?


A.
Yes, sir

(Bernier dep. at 26 - 27).  


Q.
What I'd like to do is just get some feel for the physical requirements of that kind of work [cement truck driver].  Obviously -- well, perhaps it would be best if you could just kind of run through an average day, in terms of the physical requirements of the job?


A.
The strenuous part of it is getting out of the truck, put - -- on the job site, putting -- picking up the chutes, putting them on my left shoulder, putting them on the truck, taking the chutes off, washing them up after the job and heading back to the plant.  We have to sometimes pick up 75 pound bags of calcium or cement, but that's like once or twice in the morning.  

(Bernier dep. at 26 - 27). 



At the hearing, the employee testified in more detail regarding the specifics of his job requirements at Valley and Klondike.  Calcium was usually only added when the temperature was cold, usually in the spring or fall.  The employee would have to climb a ladder on the truck to add calcium.  There was usually a laborer at the job sites where he was delivering concrete to assist with the calcium bags which he testified weigh between 50 and 70 pounds.  The employee would make between four and six deliveries per day, and worked six days per week, on average.  The employee had to climb a short ladder to get in and out of the cement trucks.  While at Valley, he would assist others where needed at the plant, when he wasn't delivering concrete.  


Q.
Okay.  Let's see, have you had any injuries at Valley Block?


A.
One.


Q.
What was that?


A.
A back injury.


Q.
And when did that happen?


A.
Two years ago.


Q.
Was that a workers' compensation injury?


A.
Yes, sir, it was.


Q.
Okay.  Why don't you just describe for me what happened.


A.
I bent -- picked up five 20-foot chunks of Number 5 rebar the wrong way, and I blew a disk out.  


Q.
Did -- were you off work for any period of time because of that?


A.
Yes, sir, I was.


Q.
How long were you off work?


A.
I'd say about seven months.


Q.
Do you remember the approximate date of this injury?


A.
No, sir, I don't.  Approximately the middle of July.


Q.
Of '94?


A.
Yes, sir.


Q.
So you were off for seven months.  Did you basically miss the rest of that season, then?


A.
Yes, sir I did.  

(Bernier dep. at 20). 


The employee testified that he participated in the B.E.A.R.  program and that his back is now better from his July 1994 injury.  He further testified that he returned to Valley for the 1995 season and did not report any other injuries.  He was able to work the entire 1995 season with Valley. 


Q.
Okay I guess I should go back and -- were there any  besides the pain and the catching, were there any of the symptoms that did persist after that last surgery in 1991? . . .


A.
[I]n the last two years or three -- or two and a half years, I've noticed my knee isn't tracking the way it's supposed to and it hurts a lot.  Now . . . back when this started, it was hurting but I didn't have the money to go in and get it taken care of. . . .A lot of aspirin, a lot of soaking, heat pads and, you know.  


Q.
So are we -- are you saying that since you started at Valley Block, this has been happening?


A.
No. . . . No.  It does not have anything to do with Valley Block.


Q.
Well, I know, I'm just . . . I mean a time frame.


A.
Yeah, it just -- yeah, it -- it just been getting worse.  



. . . . 


Q.
. . . .[Started with] Valley Block in 1994?  So you had worked in -- for Valley Block just for a few months before your back injury and then you were off quite a while?


A.
Yes.


Q.
And then, you apparently had started the 1995 season, again let's say roughly May or so, '95?


A.
Um-hum  Yip.


Q.
And then June -- on June 20th [1995], you went to see Brudenell for your knee?


A.
Because the years prior to that, not -- you know, Workman's Comp would not take care of it. . . . They [Travelways] told me that they would not take care of it.  I did not have the money to go see the doctor so it was, you know, you don't have the money, you don't see the doctor, you don't get it taken care of.  It go to the point where I could not wait any longer. . . . And so my wife and I saved up the money and we went in to see the doctor.  



. . . . 


Q.
How about any kind of other symptoms like clicking or . . . grinding?  Was that a new kind of sensation?  


A.
It had been getting worse.  Different activities a long time ago, it would  -- you'd feel a sensation, you know, that's different.  And then you'd forget about it.  You'd do that same thing again down the road and it's gotten a little bit louder.  Now, the grinding -- I'll grind and you can hear it through the floor, and it hurts.  



. . . . 


Q.
And when you went to see Dr. Brudenell -- or maybe I -- why don't I just go through some of his findings here, yeah.  He described it as moderately disabling lateral and medial compartment symptoms in the right knee.  Of course, that's a medical description but -- at the end of his work day as a cement truck driver, has substantial pain and has to limp, usually goes to bed early. . . . Was that true?


A.
Yes, sir.


Q.
Okay.  And when did you first notice that you were limping? . . . 


A.
A year or so, okay.  Pain along lateral joint line -- well, it sounds like it's somewhere in the knee joint.  


Q.
Did Dr. Brudenell discuss with you what the x-rays showed on your knee?


A.
Yes, he did.


Q.
Okay.  What did he tell you about that?


A.
He -- he -- more or less, the same thing that McGuire said, that you have a bone deterioration and he suggested then that I have surgery.  And I told him that I can't because I don't have the money . . . for it.  And he gave me a shot of steroid or something.  



. . . . 


Q.
In this gap between seeing Brudenell and seeing Dr. Mason, and Dr. McGuire this year, were there any noticeable additional changes to your knee, . . .


A.
It's gotten worse.


Q.
. . . something maybe you can describe for me? . . . .


A.
The grinding has gotten worse.  Pain has gotten considerably worse.  It's gotten so bad to where it has affected my work and to the point where I have told my boss that I can't do it [work] anymore.  

(Bernier dep. at 69 - 79).  


In his June 20, 1995 report, Dr. Brundenell stated in pertinent part:  "I suggested to him that perhaps some further surgical treatment may be indicated in the not too distant future."  A hand written note on the same report (dated June 21, 1995) provides:  "Patient states he went to work this AM and had episode of weakness and `disorientation,' . . . Plan:  to ER if persists - advised not to work.  RTO if he would like."  The employee testified he continued to work to save money for his pending surgery.  


The employee testified he returned to work at Valley at the beginning of the 1996 season.  In his June 3, 1996 report, Dr. McGuire stated in pertinent part:  



David is now 42 years old and presents today with old complaints of right knee symptoms.  His original injury occurred in 1985 when he slipped on ice while getting off a bus.  He's had three surgeries on the right knee since that time, a lateral meniscectomy in January of 1986, an ACL reconstruction with allograft in July of '86, and in June of 1991 he had arthroscopy with debridement of the medial tibial plateau and marginal osteophytes.  In June of 1995 he had an injection of Celestone and Xylocaine in the knee in this office by Dr. Brudenell.  He says his knee is getting progressively worse and the patella feels likes it is not tracking.  He has popping, grinding, and constant pain all around the patella.  He has sharp intermittent pain and mltiple [sic] complaints of giving way, catching, swelling, pain at night, morning stiffness, pain when sitting with knees flexed, clicking, popping and grinding, as well as difficulty with stairs, uneven terrain, running, cutting and kneeling.  His knee is very restricting to him, and getting slowly worse overe [sic] time.  (Emphasis added).


Dr. McGuire diagnosed:  "Degenerative joint disease, loose ACL, lateral meniscus absent, and deterioration of the knee."  (Emphasis added).  Dr. McGuire recommended:  



In my opinion, he needs a redo of the ACL reconstruction with an allograft, and perhaps an osteotomy to correct the knee.  He is going to see Dr. Mason today and then he and I will discuss the appropriate treatment.  I am convinced that David's problems are definitely related to his original injury in 1985.  (Id.).  (Emphasis added).  


In his October 10, 1995 letter, Dr. McGuire stated:  "I am writing in regards to your 6-20-95 office visit.  Scott Wetzel (Travelways) has denied these charges saying there is no evidence to link current condition to past injury of 1985."  On January 18, 1996, the employee filed an application for adjustment of claim seeking only medical costs associated with his right knee in his claim against Travelways.    


The March 21, 1996 prehearing conference summary provides:  



EE stated he saw Dr. Brudenell (who was covering for Dr. McGuire) and Dr. Frost last summer.  Since the IR denied payment of the $130.00 charge for this visit, EE did not continue treatment since he could not afford it. . . .



[Travelways' adjuster] stated the previous adjuster on this case controverted medical benefits in 1991, then subsequently paid medical benefits.  (A C&R was approved in the case in 1986, but future medical benefits were not waived.).  



[Travelways] will pay the $130.00 bill.  [Travelways' adjuster] will authorize an examination for EE with Dr. McGuire or another knee specialist, and ask the doctor to address certain issues about EE's need for treatment.  


In consultation with Dr. McGuire, the employee saw Bret Mason, M.D.  In his June 3, 1996 report, Dr. Mason stated in pertinent part:  



I also feel he would benefit from a distal femoral osteotomy for correction of the genu valgum with correction of mechanical access.  



In the interim, patient is concerned because financially they have been strapped due to his knee problems, and it is important if he can at least get through his busy money-making season this summer, even temporarily with any type of temporary means.  In that regard, I think he would benefit from a Generation II brace to unload the lateral compartment and NSAID and use of one cane or crutch in situations where it would be applicable to unload this joint.  



I think that the scope, anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction, and the high tibial osteotomy could be done all at the same procedure as long as Dr. McGuire and I were able to get together and do preoperative planning of incisions, hardware placement, and osteotomy site.  I will coordinate his care with Dr. McGuire.



I appreciate the opportunity to evaluate this patient's arthritic knee.  


The employee continued working at Valley until June 27, 1996:


Q.
I noticed an -- there's a report from Valley Hospital emergency room dated June 27, of '96.  Do you recall going to the Valley Hospital . . . 


A.
Yes, I do.


Q.
. . . ER?  Okay. They described where you -- of course, you went there with right-knee pain and that you were doing your usual work and had squatted down and had rose up and you felt a crunch in your knee . . .


A.
Uh-huh. (Affirmative)


Q.
. . . and the onset of pain.  


A.
That's when it -- that's what I told you about this -- this grinding has gotten worse.  And there -- that day, there was just a lot of movement.  There was a situation that happened that everybody had to be on their toes and if you hurt yourself, if you smashed your finger -- forget about it, we got this we got to deal with.  It was an important -- you know, it was, more or less, an emergency in construction terms.  And trying to do my job, helping the way -- at the best I could, I squatted down.  This grinding happened in my knee and it hurt a lot.  And I told my boss, I says . . . hey man, you know, this is hurting too much and I got to go check it out. 



. . . .


A.
All I did  was just -- all I did was just -- you know, I squatted down to pick up a wrench, and when I went to stand up, the grinding in my leg just -- it just -- it got -- during the week it just -- you know, it got to the point where I just couldn't do it anymore.  And now it's happened again, but this time it's put me out.  I cannot grin and bear it anymore.  


On June 13, 1996 Travelways again filed a controversion notice denying liability for "all medical care to right knee."  Travelways reasoned:  



Present condition is as a result of degenerative joint disease secondary to genu valgum, possible stretching or rupture of previous anterior cruciate ligament.  Present right knee condition is possibly due to long term employment occupation of operating a cement truck which requires extensive climbing of ladder and carrying heavy cement shoots [sic].  


On July 8, 1996 Valley's owner restructured the business's labor division.  All laborers, including the employee, were now employed by Builders.  The employee testified that he was not exactly sure he knew he was then an employee of Builders.  His final paychecks were different, however.  The employee discontinued working at Builders on August 23, 1996.  He testified that he left because he could no longer tolerate the pain in his right knee.  


On August 29, 1996, Travelways wrote to Dr. McGuire.  This letter provides in pertinent part:  "A Valley Hospital emergency room report of June 27, 1996 related an incident where Mr. Bernier was squatting at work and felt a crunch in his knee when he rose, with the onset of severe pain.  Your report of July 1, 1996 also references that work aggravation."  Travelways asked Dr. McGuire whether the employee's work as a cement truck driver aggravated or accelerated his knee condition; specifically whether the June 27, 1997 incident aggravated or accelerated his knee condition; and whether the June 27, 1997 incident was a new injury. 


In his October 21, 1996 letter, Dr. McGuire responded:  "1. I do believe that Mr. Bernier's work has contributed to his knee problem.  2.  The incident at work on June 27, 1996, probably aggravated his knee to a minor degree.  3.  The June 27, 1996 incident was not a new injury."  


In his October 22, 1996 report, Dr. Mason noted:  



David returns today for follow up on severe lateral compartment degenerative joint disease, right knee, and complains of his knee catching and giving way.  His exam is consistent with my previous exam on previous visit 6/3/96 . . . I also think that he has a probable laxity of the anterior cruciate ligament, and we will coordinate surgery with Dr. McGuire for diagnostic arthroscopy with procedure as indicated, most likely a debridement of the arthritic surface, possible redo allograft anterior cruciate ligament, followed by distal femoral osteotomy.


In his December 20, 1997 operative report, Dr. Mason diagnosed, both preoperatively and postoperatively:  "lateral compartment degenerative joint disease right knee."  This report indicates that Dr. Mason performed a right distal femoral varus osteotomy.  In his January 30, 1997 chart note, Dr. Mason stated:  "David is now 6 weeks post varus osteotomy, distal femur.  He was doing very well up until a point approximately a week ago when he had a severe fall."  Dr. Mason later performed follow up surgery.  In his April 3, 1997 chart note, Dr. Mason stated:  



David is 15 weeks post osteotomy, right distal femur, progressing well.  Today x-rays demonstrate increased healing of the osteotomy, and I have taken him now to weightbearing with a cane, and he may start discontinuing the use of his Bledsoe brace.  I cut his therapy back now to twice a week, and I will follow up with him in another month for repeat x-rays of the distal femur and suspect we may be able to take him to full weightbearing at that time.


At Valley's request, the employee was examined by James B. Smith, M.D., on August 1, 1997.  In pertinent part, Dr. Smith opined:  



1.  The need for all of Mr. Bernier's treatment, including that done in 1996, was due to the natural history of lateral meniscus injury and surgery, and chronic anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency.



2.  . . . The use of the unloaded brace and the distal femoral osteotomy were indicated as early as 1991, and at any time thereafter. One can continue, reasonably, to expect the need for total knee replacement.



3.  There is no question that Mr. Bernier was a candidate for distal femoral osteotomy in May, 1995.  The ACL reconstruction in the presence of a severely degenerative knee is a matter of controversy, and Dr. McGuire and I have disagreed on this subject in the past.  While I have not been persuaded by recent events, nor by hearing his exposition of this subject at a recent meeting in Argentina, and while this case seems to present eloquent disputation of his conclusion, it is true that several other authorities agree with the approach of doing anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in the presence of decompensated osteoarthritis.  In that context, Mr. Bernier was a candidate for ACL reconstruction and osteotomy.  



4.  The need for additional reconstructive surgery in 1996 would not have been avoided or postponed if Mr. Bernier had had replacement braces and had been provided medical care from 1991 on; in fact, the changes existing in his knee in 1991 constituted adequate indications for such surgery at that time (1991).  



5.  Although there is some controversy regarding the effect of occupation on the natural history of osteoarthritis, it is my opinion that this is generally not the case, and especially not the case when work involves driving a truck. 



8.  There is no objective evidence of medical improvement within the past 45 days that is documented in the records available to me; however, it appears rather obvious from the patients's present condition, including recent bone graft surgery, that medical stability has not yet been reached.  


At his October 2, 1997 deposition, Dr. Smith testified that he has been an orthopedic surgeon for "the last decade or two, primarily knee surgery and arthroscopy."  (Dr. Smith dep. at 5).  Regarding the employee's osteotomy, Dr. Smith testified:  



A.  Well, that was a well-conceived operation designed to shift the body weight from the lateral side of the knee joint to the -- which was completely worn away -- to the more normal medial side of the knee.  And that's an appropriate procedure commonly done for this type of condition.  



Q.  And from your review of the medical records, can you tell us when you believe the distal femoral osteotomy was first indicated.



A.  Well, it was indicated sometime prior to 1991, by virtue of the fact that Dr. Frost's record indicated substantial degenerative changes on the X-ray at that time.  And I believe Dr. Frost recommended the operation then, and I think that was an appropriate recommendation.  So at that time, and anytime thereafter, I believe that it would have been appropriate to do the osteotomy.

(Id. at 11).



Q.  Dr. Smith, if I were to represent to you that Dr. McGuire has stated that if Mr. Bernier had changed his occupation as late as June of 1995, he would have been able to put this surgery off for a substantial period, would you agree with that? 



A.  No.



Q.  Why not?



A.  Well, there are two reasons.  On of them is that, although it's a common notion, there isn't evidence in the orthopedic literature indicating that occupation plays a significant role in the development of osteoarthritis.  But the main reason, I think that he needed the operation in 1991.  And he was having sufficient symptoms and impairment of function that it would have been reasonable, and probably, wise, to do the operation then. . . . 



Q.  Would you look at Dr. McGuire's -- either your description of what Dr. McGuire found in June of 1991 or Dr. McGuire's June of 1991 operative report, please.  Because I would like to ask you what Dr. McGuire indicated what he found in 1991.



A.  This will take a minute



In my record, I paraphrased the findings that Dr. McGuire put in his operation report; that's on page 2 of my report, in the top paragraph.  He found that the [ACL] reconstruction was still intact, but that the degenerative changes had progressed to the point that there was an area of bare bone on the posterior part of the lateral tibial plateau and the entire lateral femoral condyle.  There was also degenerative change on the articular cartilage of the medial tibial plateau.



Q.  And do you have any reason to believe that those degenerative changes would have continued to progress? 



A.  That's a virtual certainty.



Q.  When is that, again, please?



A.  Well that's the way it is.  That the natural history of osteoarthritis:  That is a permanent progressive, relentlessly, but not predictively progressive disease.  

(Id. at 14 - 15).  


Drs. Smith and McGuire disagree as to when surgery in cases similar to the employee should be performed;  Dr. Smith prefers to operate early, while Dr. McGuire operates as a last resort.



Q.  Why don't you go ahead and just describe for me, in your own terms, or in terms perhaps that lay persons could understand what -- more fully what the nature of the disagreement is between you and Dr. McGuire.



A.  Okay.  Most of the patients, when they get to this situation, have persisting pain with activity -- pain and swelling and limited motion of varying sorts so that they can't do things because of pain.  That a group of symptoms and functional states that are a result of osteoarthritis.  Now anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency produces a feeling of the knees slipping and sliding and the knee giving way and the patient also says it goes out from under me, or let's me down.  Correction of the anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency by surgery is a reasonable thing to do.



But the vast majority of people that we see, with osteoarthritis, have perfectly normal anterior cruciate ligaments;  and that doesn't protect them from the pain that they have.  So there isn't evidence, except in Dr., McGuire's series, that indicates that anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency -- or the correction of anterior cruciate insufficiency relieves pain or improves function.  As a matter of fact this case itself indicates that that's not the case.



Q.  What would your recommended course of treatment be, then, opposed to Dr. McGuire's?



A.  I agree completely that he needed to have the osteotomy.  When I see people with this situation, I recommend that they have the osteotomy for the relief of their pain and improvement in their function.  And I tell them that if after that operation they then have symptoms suggesting that their anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency is causing function impairment, then I recommend anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction at a later time.  I have never had these people come back and ask me to reconstruct their anterior cruciate ligament.

(Id. at 29 - 30). 



Q.  Is it your opinion that his work activities after 1986 had nothing to do with the development of his osteoarthritis?



A.  Yes, it is. 

(Id. at 38 - 39). 


Dr. McGuire testified by deposition on June 9, 1997, which provides in pertinent part:



Q.  In 1991, was Mr. Bernier a candidate for an osteotomy?



A.  The answer is possibly yes, so it comes to say that osteotomies are still, today, a matter of opinion.  A way to explain that might be that osteotomies today are where anterior cruciate ligament surgeries were in the late '70s.  We have to do them because we have people who have problems for which there is no other solution.  But if you ask my opinion, by the time we have the next century, we'll have a better way to do them than we do them today.  We tend to want to not do them until we're sort of in desperation for something that we have to do.  The reason being that the results are not as predictable as we'd like to have them and the surgery is big, it's open, it's painful.  So, was he a candidate in 1986?  Well, if you're a surgeon who strongly believes that osteotomies should be done and should be done early, then you would say yes.  If you're a surgeon who will go the last mile to avoid an osteotomy because they don't work so well and they hurt a lot, then you would say, well, maybe not yet?  



Q.  Where do you fall in there? 



A.  The latter.  

(Dr. McGuire dep. at 12 - 13).  



Q.  When would you recommend to Mr. Bernier [on June 13, 1991] that he consider changing occupations?



A.  Well, because he has bare bone on the tibia and the femur as of the '91 arthroscopy.  Because by less fancy names, that is degenerative arthritis because anybody with a degenerative arthritic knee is not going to do well in the long run with an occupation that is classified as heavy or moderately heavy lifting, bending, stooping, et cetera.  



Q.  Can occupations of that nature significantly worsen conditions Mr. Bernier was faced with at the time?



A.  It tends to worsen the condition.

(Id. at 14).  



Q.  Were there any significant changes in Mr. Bernier's condition between June 1991 and June 1995 based on those reports?



A.  Based on this immediate report, it would be hard to say that absolutely.  Certainly you could say it this way.  There's absolutely no evidence that he got better between 1991 and 1995 and there's every impression that he was getting worse, even though you couldn't document that necessarily from this particular report.

(Id. at 15).  



Q.  Can you describe those [changing conditions] so a layman can understand what those were?



A.  The area of bare bone present in 1991 was certainly greater in 1996, so perhaps an analogy would work.  If we had a 1/2 inch area on a teflon frying pan that had no Teflon remaining in 1991 and we now extended that to cover half of the frying pan, it wold be easy to see that there was less teflon left covering and that's basically the situation with the articular cartilage.  There was clear evidence that it was worn down in 1991, but that by 1996 the amount of wearing had significantly extended.  So, in 1991, while there was some areas where the bone was touching, it would be only the case that in the precise degree of flexion that those two areas were opposed would the bone be in contact, but that the remaining articular cartilage had eroded by 1996 so that in almost no matter what degree of flexion the knee was in there would be bare bone touching bare bone.



Q.  In your opinion, did Mr. Bernier's activities, daily activities contribute to that process?



A.  Well, I suppose that -- I'm not sure exactly how to answer the question.  Probably the way to answer it is given what I think was going on in Mr. Bernier's knee, just about everything that he did probably contributed to that.  

(Id. at 17 - 18).  



Q.  I'm asking you to guess, but guess based upon your medical expertise if you could.  If Mr. Bernier had stopped work at the end of the 1993 season for Klondike, hadn't worked any more as a cement mixer truck driver but had done something else that was less demanding physically, do you think he would have needed surgery at the time you did perform surgery?



A.  I think there's a chance that he would have put that surgical encounter off to the future and I think you could probably -- and again, it's an opinion and there isn't any way that I can prove it, but it's an opinion.  I think if he had changed occupations in 1991 and gone to a sedentary kind of position, I think that he could have a much better knee than he has now and he probably would not have have had to have had this surgery as recently as he had to have it.

(Id. at 26 - 27).  



A.  Almost no matter what he does is going to aggravate his knee and if he goes to work almost no matter what kind of work he does at this point is going to aggravate his knee . . .

(Id. at 33).  



Q.  When you use the term aggravation, I'm not sure precisely what you mean by that.  Whether you mean a temporary aggravation like I'm working today, so my knee is going to be bothering me, when I stop working, that immediate pain will be alleviated; or are you talking about the kind of aggravation that is a permanent change in the knee condition?



A.  It would be the first that you -- the first example that you gave.  You know, if you have a sore back and it hurts you when you swing a golf club, then what you say is don't swing the golf club and it won't hurt so bad, it was an aggravation.  Well, it's the same kind of analogy here.  He has a degenerative knee and virtually anything that he does is going to temporarily aggravate, make worse his knee, and if you continue to do it and continue to do it over time and time and time, then ultimately you begin to have those temporary changes became permanent, which is what we talked about from 1991 to 1996.  

(Id. at 35).  



Q.  Well, Doctor, if he had quit the type of work that he was doing in 1995, what do you think would have been the prognosis with his knee?



A.  Well, he still would have had a lot of trouble with his knee and probably at some time in the future he would have had to have had something done.  But I think it might have been longer.  I think it might have been in the more distant future.  

(Id. at 41).  



Q.  Doctor, can you say to a reasonable medical probability that if Mr. Bernier had quit doing the type of work he was doing in October of 1993, that he would have had to have that surgery in December of '96?



A.  Let me say it so that I know I've got it exactly right.



Q.  Okay.



A.  To a reasonable medical probability, if he had quit doing what he was doing in 1993, would he have had his surgery in 1996?  



Q.  Yes.



A.  And the answer is he probably would not have. 

(Id. at 44).  



Q.  Is it your opinion then that the work that he did between 1991 and 1996 accelerated the need for his surgery?



A.  Yes.



Q.  Is it also your opinion that the work that he did between 1991 and 1996 then permanently worsened his knee condition?



A.  Yes. 

(Id. at 47). 


In his September 24, 1997 medical report for the Alaska Department of Labor, Employment Security Division, Dr. Mason remarked:  "Pt suffers from extensive DJD [degenerative joint disease] lateral complete [right] knee.  S/P ACL reconstruct and distal femoral osteotomy.  He is nearly healed and rehabed.  However he still has painful arthritic knee."  


Each employer asserts it is not the liable party, and seeks an award reimbursing them for expenses incurred defending the action.  The employee asserts that either Valley, Klondike, or a combination thereof is liable.  


On October 24, 1997, the employee, Travelways, Klondike, and Valley filed a stipulation bearing their respective signatures, agreeing to dismiss Builders from the case.  The stipulation provides in pertinent part:  "[We] stipulate to dismiss Builders' Block and Alaska National from the litigation and the hearing currently scheduled for October 29, 1997."  The stipulation does not have a signature block for Builders, nor is it signed by Builders.   We accepted the parties oral and written stipulations dismissing Builders at the October 29, 1997 hearing.  Builders participated in the October 29, 1997 hearing to protect a potential remedy under AS 23.30.155(d). 


At the hearing, Valley objected to Builders' request for attorney's fees and costs reimbursement under AS 23.30.155(d).  Due to Builders' limited time in this case as an employer (42 days), and the fact that Dr. McGuire recommended the employee's surgery prior to Builders' employing the employee, negotiations to dismiss Builders began early.  The parties acknowledged there was little evidence against Builders.  These negotiations were ultimately not successful.  No other party joined in Valley's objection to Builders' reimbursement for attorney's fees and costs.  


Valley has paid the employee TTD, under reservation of rights.  It requests reimbursement from the liable party for all amounts paid.  Travelways has paid medical expenses, under reservation of rights.  It requests reimbursement from the liable party for all amounts paid.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
 I.
Which Employer is Liable under the Last Injurious Exposure Rule.  


This case must be analyzed under the last injurious exposure rule adopted in Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590 (Alaska 1979).  The rule applies when employment with successive employers may contribute to an employee's disability.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 868, n. 1, (Alaska 1985). This rule, combined with the presumption of compensability afforded by AS 23.30.120(a), "imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability."  Saling, 604 P.2d at 595, citing to 4A Larson, The Law of Worker's Compensation, § 95.12 (1979).   In Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993), the court stated: 


[T]wo determinations . . . must be made under this rule:  "(1) whether employment with the subsequent employer `aggravated, accelerated, or combined with' a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a 'legal cause' of the disability, i.e., `a substantial factor in bringing about the harm.'"  (quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).


An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) "but for" the subsequent employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability that a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it.  See State v. Abbott, 498 P.2d 712, 727 (Alaska 1971).  The court expressly adopted the "but for" test in a last injurious exposure rule context in Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 757 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


"The question of whether the employment aggravated or accelerated a pre-existing disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the Board and it is not the function of the court to reweigh the evidence or choose between competing inferences."  Peek 855 P.2d at 418.  "As we pointed out in Saling, under the `last injurious exposure' rule, an employee need not show that employment with the last employer was the legal cause of disability, only a legal cause of the disability."  Id. at 419, citing to Saling, 604 P.2d at 598.  


In our analysis, we must also apply the statutory presumption of compensability.  AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, the (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."


The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  "[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865 at 871.  


Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the disability is not work-related.  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.  Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.  Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,  617 P.2d 755, 757 (Alaska 1980).  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the disability is not work-related or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work-related.  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.  Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."  Id. at 869.  If the employer produces substantial evidence that the disability is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Id. at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  


Builders was the employee's most recent employer.  We begin our analysis there.  The employee, Travelways, Klondike, and Valley have stipulated to dismiss Builders;  we accepted the oral and written stipulation at the October 29, 1997 hearing.  Accordingly, the claim against Builders in denied and dismissed.  


Valley is the next most recent employer.  Valley paid the employee's time loss benefits during his surgery and recovery pursuant to AS 23.30.155(d) under a reservation of rights. 


We find the opinions expressed by Dr. McGuire during his deposition that the employee's employment with Valley aggravated his knee and accelerated the time in which he would ultimately need surgery, establishes a preliminary link between the employee's injury and his employment with Valley.  We find Dr. Smith's August 1, 1997 report and Dr. McGuire's June 3, 1996 report (relating the employee's problems to the 1985 injury) are substantial evidence to rebut this presumption.  Therefore the presumption drops out and we must determine whether the employee proved all elements of his claim against Valley by a preponderance of the evidence.  


We give more weight to Dr. McGuire's June 3, 1996 report wherein he unequivocally states:  "I am convinced that David's problems are definitely related to his original injury in 1985."  This report also addresses the progressive, degenerative nature of the employee's condition.  We find this opinion was rendered close in time to when Dr. McGuire and the employee decided surgery was necessary.  Further, we find this opinion to be most consistent with Drs. McGuire and Mason's opinions from the onset of the employee's knee condition that it is degenerative, and he would ultimately need surgery.  Last we find the employee did not consider his employment with Valley to have aggravated or accelerated his condition until after his 1996 and 1997 surgeries. (Bernier dep. at 70).  We give reduced weight to Dr. McGuire's deposition testimony that his employment with Valley aggravated or accelerated the condition and need for surgery because it does not, we find, match the chronology of the employee's condition, and is not supported by the progressive written reports leading up to Dr. McGuire's decision in June 1996 that surgery was necessary.  


We find Dr. Smith's opinion is consistent with the employee's chronology.  Dr. Smith testified that he would have performed the surgery the employee underwent in 1996-1997 in 1991 or earlier.  Although we find Dr. McGuire has a more conservative approach about the timing of surgery than Dr. Smith, we find, nevertheless, this has no impact on whether the employee's work with Valley contributed to his condition.  We find, based on Dr. Smith's opinions, that based the degenerative nature of the employee's injury that even had he worked a sedentary job, or not worked at all, his knee would still have required surgery, in 1996, 1991, or earlier.  We find, based on the employee's testimony, that the employee would have had surgery much earlier had Travelways not controverted.  We make this finding based on his testimony that he delayed surgery because he was required to pay for his medical care out of his own pocket and had to wait until he had enough money saved.  While we respect the employee's work ethic and his tenacity, we find the totality of the evidence does not support a finding that his work with Valley aggravated his knee condition or accelerated his need for surgery.  Nor do we find the employee's employment with Valley was an important factor in his knee condition.  We find Drs. Smith, Mason, and as discussed above, McGuire's opinions support this. 


Accordingly, we conclude, that the preponderance of the evidence does not support a finding that the employee's employment with Valley was a substantial factor which aggravated, accelerated or combined with the employee's pre-existing knee condition, to necessitate his need for surgery or cause his ultimate disability.  We conclude Valley is not liable for the employee's knee condition and the claim against Valley is denied and dismissed.  


Next we consider Klondike's liability.  We find, based on the same evidence discussed above, that Dr. McGuire's opinions expressed in his deposition establish a preliminary link between the employee's disability and the Klondike employment.  Based on Dr. Smith's August 1, 1996 opinion and Dr. McGuire's June 3, 1996 opinion, however, we find Klondike has rebutted the presumption with substantial evidence.  Thus, the presumption drops out and we must determine whether the employee proved all elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


Based on the same analysis above, we accord greater weight to Dr. McGuire's June 3, 1996 opinion and Dr. Smith's August 1, 1997 opinion.   We find the employee needed surgery in 1991, perhaps earlier, but his medical benefits were controverted.  We conclude, that the preponderance of the evidence does not support a conclusion that the employee's employment with Klondike was a substantial factor which aggravated, accelerated or combined with the employee's preexisting knee condition to cause his current disability and need for surgery.  Accordingly, we conclude Klondike is not liable for the employee's knee condition and need for surgery, and the claim against Klondike is denied and dismissed. 
Last, we consider Travelways' liability.  We find Dr. Smith's August 1, 1996 and Dr. McGuire's June 3, 1996 opinions establish a preliminary link between the employee's disability and his injury while employed at Travelways.  As discussed above, we give less weight to the opinions expressed by Dr. McGuire in his deposition about whether the employee's cement truck driving work aggravated or accelerated his degenerative knee condition.  Because we find Dr. McGuire's deposition testimony is not consistent with the chronology of the employee's progressively degenerative knee condition, we find such evidence does not amount to substantial evidence that Travelways did not cause the employee's knee condition and need for surgery in 1996-1997.  Therefore, we find Travelways has failed to rebut the presumption.  We conclude Travelways is liable for the employee's knee condition.  Even had we found Travelways rebutted the presumption we would still find Travelways liable for the employee's knee condition based on the preponderance of the evidence analyzed above.  

II.
Payment of Costs and Fees Under AS 23.30.155(d).  


Our statute, AS 23.30.155(d) provides in pertinent part:


When payment of temporary disability benefits is controverted solely on the grounds that another employer or another insurer of the same employer may be responsible for all or a portion of the benefits, the most recent employer or insurer who is party to the claim and who may be liable shall make the payments during the pendency of the dispute. When a final determination of liability is made, any reimbursement required, including interest at the statutory rate, and all costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the prevailing employer, shall be made within 14 days of the determination.


We have made a final determination that Travelways is liable for the employee's knee condition.  We have denied and dismissed the claim against Builders.  Travelways did not object to Builders' request for reimbursement of attorney's fees and costs.  Our determination of reasonableness or necessity of fees under AS 23.30.155(d) is unnecessary.  (See, Short v. John Cabot Trading, et. al., AWCB Decision No. 95-0065 (March 7, 1995);  Wagner v. City Electric Inc., AWCB Decision No. 94-0122 (May 23, 1994)).  Therefore, Travelways shall reimburse Builders a total of $12,818.25 for attorney's fees and costs as itemized in Builders affidavits of attorney's fees and costs.  


Likewise, Valley prevailed in defending this case.  Valley has paid the employee's time loss benefits for this condition.  We conclude Travelways must reimburse Valley for all payments made, plus interest at the statutory rate.  We find Travelways must reimburse Valley regardless of its C&R which earlier relieved it of any requirement for time loss benefits.  (Bouse v. Fireman's Fund, 932 P.2d 222 (Alaska 1997)).  In addition, Travelways shall reimburse Valley a total of $17,650.74 for attorney's fees and costs as itemized in Valley's affidavits of attorney's fees and costs. 


 Finally, Klondike prevailed in defending this case.  Travelways shall reimburse Klondike a total of $8,885.55 for attorney's fees and costs as itemized in Klondike's affidavits of attorney's fees and costs. 

III.
Attorney's Fees for the Employee.  


We next consider the employee's request for attorney's fees and costs.  AS 23.30.145(b) provides:



(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  


We find the claim was controverted both by Controversion Notices and by Travelways' actions. Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).  


The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee under subsection 145(b) for the benefits obtained regarding the employee's knee condition.  We find Travelways resisted paying medical benefits, and we can award a fee under subsection 145(b).  Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978).  


Subsection 145(b) requires that the attorney's fee awarded be reasonable. Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires that a fee awarded under subsection 145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that we consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained.  


We find the issues were complicated, implicating four possible employers.  We find the employee obtained the services of an attorney who provided legal services, submitting evidence to support the employee's claims and aggressively pursued his claims.  We find the employee's attorney's actions resulted in the decision by Valley to pay time loss and Travelways to pay medical benefits.  Moreover we find the efforts of the employee's attorney helped ultimately establish Travelways' liability for the employee's knee condition and surgeries.  We further find the time loss and medical benefits the employee received were substantial.  We conclude we shall award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to the employee. 


The employee's attorney's affidavit details 49.30 hours for attorney fees at $200.00.  We have reviewed the billings and find the number of hours and rate reasonable, and not objected to.  We award the employee $9,860.00 for attorney's fees.  The employee also seeks an award of costs.  The affidavit details 7.15 hours for legal assistant fees at $80.00 per hour.  We have reviewed the legal assistant billings and find the number of hours and rate to be reasonable.  We award the employee $572.00 for legal assistant costs.  The employee also seeks other costs which total $380.64.  As the requested costs are all allowable under 8 AAC 45.180(f), we shall award them.  Travelways shall pay the employee a total of $10,812.64 for attorney's fees and costs.  

IV.
Penalty.


We note the employee has not yet filed a claim for a penalty.  We reserve jurisdiction to review any penalty claim for unfair or frivolous controversion of medical benefits in this claim.  


ORDER

1.
Travelways is responsible for the employee's knee condition.  


2.
Travelways shall reimburse Builders a total of $12,818.25 for attorney's fees and costs.  


3.
Travelways shall reimburse Valley for all disability benefits paid, plus interest at the statutory rate.  In addition, Travelways shall reimburse Valley a total of $17,650.74 for attorney's fees and costs.  


4.
Travelways shall reimburse Klondike a total of $8,885.55 for attorney's fees and costs.  


5.
Travelways shall pay the employee a total of $10,812.64 for attorney's fees and costs.  


6.
We reserve jurisdiction to review any penalty claim for unfair or frivolous controversion of medical benefits in this claim.  


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 21st day of November, 1997.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



 /s/ Darryl Jacquot               


Darryl L. Jacquot, 



Designated Chairman



 /s/ S.T. Hagedorn                




S. T. Hagedorn, Member


The compensation payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of David J. Bernier, employee / applicant; v. Travelways, Inc., employer; and Home Insurance Co., insurer; and Klondike Concrete, employer; and Alaska National Ins. Co., insurer; and Valley Block and Concrete, employer; and CIGNA, insurer; and Builders Block, Inc., employer; and Alaska National Ins. Co., insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 8500287, 9329435, 9628814, and 9626268; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 21st day of November, 1997.

SNO                             Brady D. Jackson III, Clerk

�








     �The employee sought treatment with Ross Brudenell, M.D., who had taken over Dr. McGuire's patients while Dr. McGuire was out of state for personal reasons.  (Bernier dep. at 71).  





